SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STEVEN D. CATLIN,) No. 167148
Petitioner,)
) Court of Appeal, Fifth
v.) Dist. No. F053705
SUPERIOR COURT,) Kern County Superior
STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Court No. 30594
COUNTY OF KERN,)
Respondent,	,)
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	SUPREME COURT FILED
Real Party in Interest.	DEC 1 8 2008
	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS Deputy

After the Denial of a Petition for Writ of Mandate

by the Court of Appeal, Fifth District

J. WILDER LEE (SBN: 168442) Attorney at Law 360 Ritch Street, Suite 201 San Francisco, CA 94107 415-495-3115

Attorney for Petitioner, STEVEN D. CATLIN

Questions Presented

On November 19, 2008, this Court granted Mr. Catlin's petition for review on the questions of whether the Court of Appeal erred by (1) finding that dicta in *In re Steele*, (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, imposed a timeliness requirement for filing a post-conviction discovery motion upon a statute that contained no timeliness requirement and further err by (2) wrongly applying that requirement to Mr. Catlin?

Summary of Argument

The answer to these questions is yes. The statute itself includes no time limitations on filing a motion, and its legislative history indicates that such a limit was considered by the legislature but ultimately rejected. This Court, in interpreting the statute, stated that any unreasonable delay in filing a post-conviction discovery motion will be considered in deciding the timeliness of the underlying habeas corpus petition. (*In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 692, n. 2.) The statute and this Court's interpretation of it both demonstrate that the trial court does not determine whether a post-conviction discovery motion has been filed within a reasonable time period. Rather timeliness considerations, if any, are reserved for this Court.

If this Court were to find that the trial court should make a determination of whether a post-conviction discovery motion has been filed within a reasonable time period, then such a rule cannot be applied in Mr. Catlin's case based on fundamental principles of due process and notice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Steven D. Catlin is an inmate of San Quentin State Prison, confined under a sentence of death which was imposed in Kern County on July 6, 1990. (See *People v. Catlin* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 26 Cal. 4th 1060c [affirming conviction on direct appeal].)

On August 9, 2000, Mr. Catlin, by and through his then-appointed counsel Jeffrey Schwartz, filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the California Supreme Court (Case No. S090636); that petition was subsequently denied on September 25, 2007, after the trial court's denial of petitioner's motion for post-conviction discovery.

On July 22, 2005, Mr. Catlin's then habeas counsel, Jeffrey Schwartz, moved to withdraw because he had accepted employment with the Humboldt County District Attorney's Office; this Court granted the motion to withdraw on August 10, 2005. On May 5, 2006, J. Wilder Lee, who had previous worked on Mr. Catlin's habeas petition as an unappointed, supervised attorney, was appointed counsel of record for Mr. Catlin for all state post-conviction proceedings.

In July, 2007, Mr. Catlin sought informal discovery from the Attorney General, who had prosecuted the case at the trial level, but the Attorney General refused to cooperate with his request. Thereafter, Mr.

Catlin filed a motion for post-conviction discovery in the Kern County
Superior Court on August 3, 2007. (Exh. A of pet. for writ of mandate filed in the Court of Appeal.) That motion requested sixteen distinct categories of discovery materials. The People, represented by the California Attorney General, filed an opposition to the motion on August 20, 2007 based, in part, on grounds that Mr. Catlin's motion was untimely. (Exh. B of pet. for writ of mandate.) At a hearing on August 27, 2007, the trial court denied petitioner's motion as untimely. (8/27/07 RT 38 [Exhibit D of the petition for writ of mandate].) Petitioner obtained no discovery materials at all either through the informal discovery process or the filing of his motion.

Petitioner subsequently filed a petition for writ of mandate² in the Court of Appeal, Fifth District (Case Number F053705) that was summarily denied on October 5, 2007. A petition for review to the California Supreme Court (Case No. S157232) was granted on November 28, 2007, and the matter was transferred back to the Court of Appeal with directions to (1) vacate the order denying his petition for mandate and (2) issue an alternative writ directing the superior court to grant the motion or show

The People were represented at petitioner's trial by the California Attorney General after the Kern County District Attorney was recused.

A petition for a writ of mandate is the proper remedy to challenge a trial court's post-conviction discovery order. (*In re Steele, supra,* 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, n. 2.)

cause why it should not be granted.

After issuing an alternative writ, the Court of Appeal ultimately denied Mr. Catlin's petition in its published opinion on August 22, 2008 which included a dissenting opinion by Justice Dawson. A petition for rehearing was denied without any substantive changes to the opinion³ on September 8, 2008; Justice Dawson "would [have] grant[ed] the petition." This Court granted a petition for review on November 19, 2008.

The Court of Appeal, in the order denying the petition for rehearing, did correct the date on which this Court granted Mr. Catlin's prior petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. Did the California Supreme Court Intend to Impose a Time Deadline for Filing a Discovery Motion When it Used the Phrase "Reasonable Time" in *In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 692, n.
2, in Light of the Fact That Section 1054.9 Contains No Statutory Deadline for Filing a Discovery Motion?

Section 1054.9 allows persons subject to a sentence of death to file a motion for post-conviction discovery to assist in seeking a writ of habeas corpus. It provides that,

[u]pon prosecution of a postconviction writ of habeas corpus ... in a case in which a sentence of death ... has been imposed, and on a showing that good faith efforts to obtain discovery materials from trial counsel were made and were unsuccessful, the court shall ... order that the defendant be provided reasonable access to ... materials in possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities to which the same defendant would have been entitled at the time of trial.

(Sec. 1054.9, subds. (a) & (b).)

In *In re Steele*, this Court stated in a footnote that:

Section 1054.9 provides no time limits for making the discovery motion or complying with any discovery order. We believe the statute implies that the motion, any petition challenging the trial court's ruling, and compliance with a discovery order must all be done within a reasonable time period. We will consider any unreasonable delay in seeking discovery under this section in determining whether the underlying habeas corpus petition is timely. (See generally *In re Robbins* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 770; *In re Clark* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750.) We would consider a petition for writ of mandate challenging the trial court's order filed within 20 days after that order to be filed within a reasonable time for these purposes. Moreover, as we are directing in this case, any discovery ordered pursuant to section 1054.9 should be provided within a reasonable

time, which might vary depending on the nature of the order. We will also consider the date of compliance with the order in considering the timeliness of any petition for writ of habeas corpus that might be filed in light of the discovery.

(In re Steele, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, n. 2.)

Even though this footnote acknowledges that the legislature set no time limit for bringing a post-conviction discovery motion, the Superior Court and the Fifth District Court of Appeal, finding no ambiguity, read this footnote as requiring the trial court to determine whether any post-conviction discovery motion has been brought within a "reasonable time." (Slip opn., pp. 3, 6-7, 9, 11.) This interpretation, rather than settling the matter, simply leads to further, unanswered questions of how long is a reasonable time period and from which point in time is that reasonable time period measured? Neither the trial court nor the appellate court had answers to these questions.

As Justice Dawson notes in her dissent, footnote 2 of Steele

can be read in at least three ways. First, it can be read to say that "any unreasonable delay in seeking discovery" will be considered when (and only when) the timeliness of "the underlying habeas corpus petition" is considered. (Steele, at pp. 692-693, fn. 2.) Second, it can be read to say that "any petition challenging the trial court's ruling" on a section 1054.9 motion, as well as "compliance with a discovery order must all be done within a reasonable time period" after the filing of a section 1054.9 motion. (Steele, at pp. 692-693, fn. 2, italics added.) Third, it can be read as does the majority. ¶ Given this ambiguity in footnote 2, I must disagree with the conclusion that its language allows us to ignore the plain words

used and not used by the Legislature in enacting section 1054.9. The section simply provides no time limit for making a motion.

(Slip opn., dissenting opn. of Dawson, J., p. 1.)

Justice Dawson has the better argument here. She, as does Footnote 2 in *Steele*, places the role of the post-conviction discovery motion within the larger context of the habeas proceeding. Within that context, the scheme advanced by Justice Dawson, that this Court – not the trial court – considers any unreasonable delay in filing a post-conviction discovery motion within the context of the timeliness of the underlying habeas corpus petition, is the preferred reading of Footnote 2. Such a reading is consistent both with the legislative history of section 1054.9 and the language of footnote two of *Steele*.

A. The Plain Language and Legislative History of Section 1054.9 Indicate that the Legislature Intended No Time Limitations for Filing a Post-conviction Discovery Motion

As this Court noted in *Steele*, "[s]ection 1054.9 provides no time limits for making the discovery motion ..." (*In re Steele, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, n. 2.) In interpreting a statute, "the office of the Judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted ..." (Code of Civ. Pro. sec. 1858; see also *Levin v. United Air Lines, Inc.* (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1002, 1022.) Application of the rules of statutory construction leads to the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to impose a time limitation as to when a post-conviction discovery motion could be filed.

1. The Plain Language of Section 1054.9 Contains No Time Limit for Filing a Post-conviction Discovery Motion

The primary goal of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature so that the purposes of the law can be effectuated. (*People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, 151.) Toward that end, the court first examines the words of the statute, applying their usual, ordinary, and common sense meaning based upon the language the Legislature used and the evident purpose for which the statute was adopted. (*In re Rojas* (1979)

23 Cal.3d 152, 155.)

The plain language of section 1054.9, subdivision (a), provides that the court "shall" order discovery upon (1) the prosecution of a habeas petition and (2) on a showing that good faith efforts were made to obtain the materials sought from trial counsel. The Legislature's use of the word "shall" is ordinarily construed as mandatory under well-settled principles of statutory construction. (Common Cause v. Board of Supervisors (1989) 49 Cal.3d 432, 443.) Therefore, there are only two preconditions for seeking post-conviction discovery. The Legislature did not include filing a postconviction discovery motion within a certain time limit as precondition for the court granting discovery. To insert such a time requirement that was omitted by the Legislature is inconsonant with the rules of statutory construction. The better reading of the language of section 1054.9 is that the Legislature did not intend to give the trial court discretion to decide whether to grant or deny discovery based upon the time when the motion was filed.

2. The Legislative History of Section 1054.9
Demonstrates that the Legislature Considered and
Rejected a Time Limit for Filing Post-conviction
Discovery Motions

This specific issue – time restrictions – was raised in the Legislature while this statute was being debated. The Report from the Assembly Committee on Public Safety notes the Attorney General's opposition to the legislation, in part, because there was no time restriction for filing a discovery motion. The report states, in relevant part, as follows:

The Attorney General contends that with no time limitations on when a motion for discovery could be made, it would impose an unreasonable burden on law enforcement and prosecutors' offices to maintain files and all types of evidence long after defendants had been discharged from custody.

(Assem. Comm. on Public Safety, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1391 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 10, 2002, p. 4.4)

The Attorney General subsequently removed its opposition to Bill 1391 when it was amended so that post-conviction discovery was only available in death and life-without-parole cases. (Sen. Floor Analyses of Bill 1391 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended August 26, 2002, p. 4 ["Note:

See also Assem. Comm. on Appropriations, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1391 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 10, 2002, p. 2 ["The Attorney General, the California District Attorneys Association and the California Judges Association contend that eliminating time limits on when a motion for discovery may be made imposes an unreasonable burden on law enforcement to maintain files and all types of evidence long after defendants have been discharged."].)

The Attorney General removed opposition with the amendments of August 26, 2002."].) A canon of statutory construction is that "a court 'should not grant through litigation what could not be achieved through legislation."" (Berry v. American Express Publishing, Inc. (2007) 147 Cal. App. 4th 224, 230, citation omitted.) To engraft a time limitation for making a discovery motion on to section 1054.9 would upset the balance that the Legislature struck, which not only took the Attorney General's concerns into consideration but also appears to have resolved those concerns to the Attorney General's satisfaction.

As Justice Dawson notes in her dissent,

Neither is the language of Steele's footnote 2 sufficiently clear, in my view, to allow us to ignore a legislative history that indicates the California Attorney General's Office, counsel for respondent here, opposed the enactment of section 1054.9 for precisely the reason that it contained no time limits on the making of the motions for which it provides. (Assem. Com. on Public Safety, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1391 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 10, 2002, p. 4.) Thus, we know that the Legislature passed section 1054.9 without, and intended to pass it without, any timeliness requirement.

(Slip opn., dissenting opn. of Dawson, J., p. 1.)

"If there is no ambiguity in the language of the statute, then the legislature is presumed to have meant what it said." (Villa De Las Palmas Homeowners Ass'n v. Terifaj (2004) 33 Ca1.4th 73, 82 [citations omitted].)

The Legislature was well-aware of the Attorney General's objection to the

lack of a timing restriction in Section 1054.9, as the Attorney General objected to the language of the statute during the legislative process. Here, the Legislature rejected the objection raised by the Attorney General as demonstrated by the fact that Section 1054.9 does not contain a time restriction.⁵ This Court recognized in *Gikas v. Zolin* (1993) 6 Ca1.4th 841, 862, that courts "should be slow to put back that which the legislature has rejected." Adding a time limitation for filing a post-conviction discovery motion would be inserting into the statute that which the Legislature specifically considered and rejected.

Bill 1391 was enacted, at least in part, in response to the Rampart scandal at the Los Angeles Police Department. (See Sen. Comm. on Public Safety, Analysis of Sen. Bill 1391 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 10, 2002, p. 6; for a description of the Rampart scandal, see, generally, *People v. Germany* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 784, 792 ["certain Los Angeles Police Department officers had engaged in misconduct, including planting evidence, filing false police reports, committing perjury, and creating nonexistent confessions."].) While the post-conviction discovery aspects of the bill do not directly address the implications of the Rampart scandal, it provides a context in which misconduct by law enforcement was not provable until many years later. Thus, a decision by the Legislature to eschew arbitrary time limits in all provisions of the bill is logical.

B. Footnote 2 of Steele, When Read in a Manner Consistent with the Statutory Language and History of Section 1054.9 Does Not Impose a Time Limitation on Filing a Post-conviction Discovery Motion

It is in the light of this legislative history and the overall context of the habeas corpus scheme that the *Steele* Court's language in Footnote 2 regarding "a reasonable time period" must be read. (*Steele*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, fn. 2.) Read in its entirety, Footnote 2 is consonant with the language and legislative history of section 1054.9. The footnote demonstrates that this Court reconciled the language and legislative history of the statute with the overall habeas corpus scheme.

1. The Language of Footnote 2 Demonstrates that the Trial Court Does Not Determine Whether a Post-conviction Discovery Motion is Filed within a Reasonable Time

The first sentence of Footnote 2 acknowledges that there is no time limitation for filing a post-conviction discovery motion.

The second sentence states that "the statute implies that the motion, any petition challenging the trial court's ruling, and compliance with a discovery order must all be done within a reasonable time period."

Obviously, the measurement of a time period must start at a certain place or event. The only event mentioned in Footnote 2 that provides a logical

starting place for such a time period is the making of a motion. Thus,

Footnote 2 should be read, as Justice Dawson suggested, "that 'any petition challenging the trial court's ruling' on a section 1054.9 motion, as well as 'compliance with a discovery order must all be done within a reasonable time period' after the filing of a section 1054.9 motion." (Slip opn., dissenting opn. of Dawson, J., p. 1, quoting *In re Steele, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, fn. 2.) Such a reading is entirely consistent with the language of the footnote itself, the language of the statute, and the statute's legislative history. Had this Court meant to reference a starting point for measuring a reasonable time other than the making of the motion, it would have done so explicitly.

The third sentence gives even more support for such a reading. This Court states that it (not the trial court) "will consider any unreasonable delay in seeking discovery under this section in determining whether the underlying habeas corpus petition is timely." (*In re Steele, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 692, fn. 2.) Any reading of Footnote 2 that allows the trial court to determine whether a post-conviction discovery motion is filed within a reasonable time vitiates the meaning of this sentence. This Court cannot make a determination of whether there was a reasonable delay in seeking discovery if the trial court has already found that delay to be unreasonable

and denied discovery.

Given the structure of the overall habeas scheme, this Court is in a better position to evaluate any alleged delay at the time that the habeas petition is filed than is the trial court at the time that the post-conviction discovery motion is filed. Unlike the trial court, this Court can evaluate the results of any post-conviction discovery at the time the habeas petition is filed. For example materials turned over by the prosecution during postconviction discovery may well be characterized at that time by the prosecutor as irrelevant but, with further investigation, this discovery material could be shown to be exculpatory evidence that the prosecution had an independent duty to disclose under Brady v. Maryland (1963) 373 U.S. 83. If, for instance, the prosecutor were given only the name of a potential witness by law enforcement, he might not know that the witness had provided exculpatory evidence to the police. Post-conviction discovery would give the petitioner a chance to identify and interview that exculpatory witness and to present it in the habeas petition. In the subsequent habeas petition, the petitioner could well be able to convince this Court that any delay in filing the habeas petition was attributable to the prosecution's failure to disclose Brady evidence and, therefore, justifiable. Without such discovery, the condemned petitioner might well be executed without ever

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