SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STEVEN D. CATLIN,

Petitioner,

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY,

Respondent.

CAPITAL CASE

No. S167148

Court of Appeal, 5DCA No. F053705

Kern County Superior Court No. 30594

1 6 2009

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk Attorney General of the State of California

DANE R. GILLETTE Chief Assistant Attorney General

MICHAEL P. FARRELL Senior Assistant Attorney General

WARD: A. CAMPBELL Supervising Deputy Attorney General

STEPHEN G. HERNDON Supervising Deputy Attorney General State Bar No. 130642

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

The appellate court correctly noted the "mischief" that would result from this approach:

When reading the third sentence of footnote 2 in context, it is clear that the Supreme Court was not suggesting the timeliness of a section 1054.9 motion could be challenged only by arguing the underlying habeas corpus petition was untimely. Otherwise, a defendant could file numerous section 1054.9 motions over a period of years and the trial court would be without power to deny the motions on the grounds that he or she had waited too long. Instead, we conclude this sentence explains that the timeliness of the motion is one factor the Supreme Court will consider when deciding if the underlying habeas corpus petition is timely; it does not limit the trial court's ability to decide if the section 1054.9 motion was filed within a reasonable time. It cannot be interpreted as suggested by Catlin.

(Opn., p. 7.)

Petitioner also suggests that the only actions that must be done within a reasonable time are the filing of any writ petition challenging the ruling on the motion or the compliance by the producing party. (AOB 15.) This interpretation deletes the words "the motion" from the second sentence in footnote 2 - the very sentence that says that writ petitions and compliance must be done within a reasonable time.

In fact, the lower courts' interpretation gives full meaning to each word in footnote 2. In short, whether a section 1054.9 motion is timely is to be determined by the court in which it is filed at the time it is filed. It will be timely if it has been filed within a reasonable time as measured against the proceeding to which it pertains. Put differently, the timeliness of a discovery motion depends on the circumstances at that time.

b. History

Petitioner asserts that the legislative history shows that the Legislature considered and rejected a time limit for these motions. (AOB 11-13.) He notes, quoting the dissent below, that the Attorney General initially sought a time limitation but withdrew that opposition when the bill was limited to lifewithout-parole and death cases. (*Ibid.*) Whatever the reasons for the Attorney

General's actions, this point is irrelevant; it is this Court, not the Attorney General, that interpreted the statute as implying that these motions must be brought within a reasonable time. The Attorney General's actions do not shed any light on collective legislative intent. (See e.g. Graham v. DaimlerChrysler Corp. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 553, 572, n. 5, quoting Metropolitan Water Dist. v. Imperial Irrigation District (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1426 ("Material showing the motive or understanding of an individual legislator, including the bill's author, his or her staff, or other interested persons, is generally not considered. [Citations.] This is because such materials are generally not evidence of the Legislature's *collective* intent.") Relatedly, petitioner claims that adding a time limitation is "inserting into the statute that which the legislature specifically considered and rejected." (AOB 13.) legislature did not explicitly consider and reject a reasonable time standard. In any event, this would be a cryptic way for the Legislative to restrict a court's inherent judicial power to regulate practice and procedure. (Cf. McMahon v. Superior Court (2003) 106 Cal. App. 4th 112, 116-117; Scott v. Larson (1927) 82 Cal.App. 46, 51; *Johnson v. Superior Court* (1926) 79 Cal.App. 650, 654.)

Moreover, if legislative history is considered, it suggests that the bill's proponents were concerned with defendants meeting their threshold burden in their *initial* habeas petitions.

"Currently, as expressed in *People v. Gonzalez*, (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179, habeas corpus counsel is required to establish all of the elements of a claim for habeas corpus relief before the court will entertain a motion to provide such original documents as police reports, ballistic tests and other materials and information. If habeas counsel cannot obtain the documents needed to meet this threshold showing because trial counsel's files have been lost or destroyed, the injustice is clear. The existing remedy, as discussed in *Gonzalez*, is woefully inadequate in cases where a defendant's file, through no fault of their own, no longer

exists. The purpose of this bill is to provide a reasonable avenue for habeas counsel to obtain documents to which trial counsel was already legally entitled."

(Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice, Exh. B, p. 3; Exh. C, p. 4.)

In other words, the focus of the bill was pre-petition discovery, not, as in this case, post-petition discovery many years after the fact. Petitioner can hardly fault this Court for contemplating that post-conviction discovery motions could be brought after a habeas petition was filed. (AOB 19.)

There is nothing remarkable about the "reasonable time" standard for section 1054.9 motions. It is consistent with this Court's jurisprudence for the timely filing of habeas corpus petitions. It was against this backdrop that the *Steele* court adopted a timeliness requirement for these motions as well. Neither the language of section 1054.9 nor its legislative history precluded this interpretation.

c. Policy

Petitioner argues that the reasonable time requirement will frustrate informal resolution of discovery issues and increase litigation. Ironically, in arguing that this court cannot interpret section 1054.9 to include a timeliness requirement, petitioner gives great weight to an "informal discovery" procedure that is also not explicitly invoked in section 1054.9. (AOB 19-21.) In truth, this requirement promotes the prompt resolution of discovery issues and discourages abuses like serial discovery motions. And petitioners do not "already [have] every incentive to litigate such motions quickly and efficiently." (AOB 19.) Delay can be a powerful incentive for a petitioner under a sentence of death. (*In re Clark* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 796 n. 31.) A reasonable time standard serves the ends of justice by stimulating discovery and the prompt resolution of claims. Hence, contrary to petitioner's argument this requirement fosters the intent of section 1054.9. No one has suggested that individual

requests within each motion must each be timely. (AOB 22-25.) And petitioner's theory that scientific advancements will have to be assessed to determine reasonableness, further slowing down discovery, is curious. Section 1054.9 is not a testing statute; it merely provides for access to discovery materials. (Steele, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 693.) Nor are advancements in scientific techniques at issue in assessing the timeliness of petitioner's motion.

C. Steele's "Reasonableness" Standard Is Sufficient

Petitioner also posits that, to prove the reasonableness of a delay, defendants will have "to have evidence demonstrating that some document was not turned over and the facts that led him to conclude that some document should have been but was not in trial counsel's file." (AOB 25.) Not so. If the prosecution asserts that a petitioner has unreasonably delayed in seeking discovery, petitioner must only explain why he is making his request now. This case shows how easily this standard can be applied. Petitioner offered no explanation at all for why he filed his all-encompassing motion many years after filing his habeas petition and several years after section 1054.9 and *Steele* were in place. It appears he filed his motion simply for reassurance that he had everything many years ago. The trial court did not abuse it's discretion in finding this unexplained delay unreasonable.

Even if the lower courts got it right - that the trial court properly applied the reasonable time standard in *Steele* to his motion - petitioner claims it incorrectly defined that standard. (AOB 28-31.) Here, petitioner advances alternative interpretations more favorable to his case. But the appellate court decision is not standardless; it simply noted the reality that reasonableness is circumstance-specific when it stated that "we cannot list the factors or circumstances that would require a court to conclude that a delay was reasonable." (Opn., p. 8; see also Black's Law Dict.5th ed. (1979) p. 1138, col. 2.) Again, this standard is consistent with the standard of timeliness for habeas

corpus petitions. (*In re Clark, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at 784-785.) It is also consistent with society's interest in resolving capital cases. (*In re Sanders* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 697, 703.)

Petitioner complains that the appellate court unfairly applied the reasonable time rule in his case because it was first defined in the context of his writ proceedings. (AOB 32.) He is mistaken; that limitations period was first announced by this Court in *Steele* in 2004.

If petitioner's no time limit rule were followed, trial courts could never deny these motions as untimely no matter how many motions were filed and despite what items were sought. This Court should not retreat from its well-considered determination in *Steele* that these motions must be brought within a reasonable time.

II.

THE APPELLATE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN APPLYING THE REASONABLE TIME STANDARD TO PETITIONER'S MOTION

Petitioner claims that, even if this Court established a reasonableness standard, it was misapplied in this case. However, as the trial court and appellate court agreed, petitioner did not file his motion as promptly as the circumstances allowed. (See *In re Robbins* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 770, 780, 787.) Manifestly, this ruling was within the bounds of reason.

Section 1054.9 went into effect in January 2003. *Steele* was decided March 2004. Yet petitioner's motion was not filed until August 2007. In short, his motion, signed by J. Wilder Lee, was filed four and a half years after section 1054.9 was effective and almost three and a half years after *Steele* announced the reasonable time requirement. These delays were unreasonable. As the appellate court explained:

Catlin's only attempt to explain this substantial delay was that his current writ attorney was appointed on May 5, 2006, and counsel was required to conduct an investigation and raise all potentially meritorious claims for relief. Counsel believed that the prosecution and law enforcement agencies had evidence in their possession that would assist in presenting a supplemental writ petition. In addition, counsel pointed out that section 1054.9 did not become effective until January 1, 2003. Therefore, he could not have filed the motion before that date.

Catlin's section 1054.9 motion requested access to the district attorney's entire file. The reason for this request was that Catlin's current counsel could not determine what Catlin's trial counsel had received from the district attorney. Counsel had attempted to determine what information had been provided in discovery, but trial counsel did not number the discovery received from the district attorney or create an index or catalog of the discovery. Despite current counsel's best attempts, he could not determine the extent of discovery provided to trial counsel. Therefore, current counsel sought access to the district attorney's entire file to make sure that everything to which Catlin had been entitled was provided by the prosecution.

The breadth of counsel's discovery request is important only to point out the lack of any explanation for the delay in filing the section 1054.9 motion. There is no suggestion that information was missing from Catlin's trial counsel's files, only that current counsel was unsure whether he had everything provided to trial counsel. There was no suggestion that new information was developed suggesting that trial counsel had not been provided with discovery to which Catlin was entitled. There was no suggestion that examination or testing of evidence would be beneficial to Catlin in any manner. There was no suggestion that anything had occurred after the petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed necessitating the filing of the section 1054.9 motion.

The filing of the original petition for writ of habeas corpus in 2000 also is significant because, had there been important material missing form Catlin's trial counsel's files, Catlin would have been aware of the missing materials at that time since current counsel has not provided any information to suggest otherwise. Moreover, Catlin and his counsel must have known at the time the petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed that trial counsel did not number, index, or catalog the discovery received before and during trial. Clearly, by the time the original

petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed, Catlin and counsel were aware of the difficulty in determining what discovery was provided to Catlin by the district attorney. Even if it were determined that it would not have been worthwhile to make a motion to determine if anything was missing from Catlin's trial counsel's files at that time, perhaps because of the burdensome procedures that would have been necessary, there is no reason a motion could not have been made when section 1054.9 became effective on January 1, 2003.

The only attempt to explain the delay provided by Catlin was that current counsel was not his primary counsel for writ purposes until May 2006. Current counsel explained that he did not make the section 1054.9 motion until August 2007 because he was becoming familiar with the file.

This argument is not persuasive. Catlin has been represented by counsel since before his trial. The appointment of new counsel 16 years after Catlin was convicted simply is not, in and of itself, a satisfactory reason to permit the filing of a section 1054.9 motion after a lengthy delay. If new counsel had uncovered new facts or developed new theories, then the change in counsel might become significant. As pointed out above, however, there is nothing in this case that would suggest the change in counsel was significant for any reason other than the change itself.

(Opn., pp. 9-11.)

In response, petitioner claims

"In the three years since Steele (decided March, 2004) first raised the suggestion of timeliness, the Supreme Court took over eight months to determine whether and how counsel would be compensated for bring a post-conviction discovery motion (November, 2004), one counsel withdrew (2005), new counsel was appointed (2006), and the post-conviction discovery motion was filed (2007). Considering the unusually complicated fact pattern of this case - evidence of three deaths over a nine year period was presented at two separate trials in two counties -, as well as the time it took the Court to develop a compensation policy, the withdrawal of counsel, and the appointment of

new counsel, there has been no substantial delay in the filing of a postconviction discovery motion."

(AOB 36-37.)

This timeline obscures key points. This Court did not raise a suggestion of timeliness in *Steele* - it established one. Nor was the change in counsel significant. (See *In re Clark*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 765 and n. 6 [Delay is not justified merely because counsel asserts the claim is being filed as soon as the successor attorney became aware of the basis for the new claim. Any other conclusion would magnify the potential for abuse of the writ.].) In fact, whether petitioner had a change in counsel is irrelevant. (*Id.*, at p. 779.)

Moreover, current counsel's (Mr. Lee) name is on the cover of the habeas petition that was filed in 2000. Apparently, he has acted as counsel for petitioner for a decade. Prior counsel, Mr. Schwartz, did not apply for permission to withdraw until July 2005, two and a half years after section 1054.9 went into effect. Succinctly stated, either Mr. Schwartz or Mr. Lee could have filed this motion in 2003, 2004, or 2005. (See e.g., *Curl v. Superior Court* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 310 (2004 Motion); *People v. Superior Court* (*Maury*) (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 473 (2005 Motion); *Kennedy v. Superior Court* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 359 (2005 Motion).)

As the appellate court noted, it is significant that petitioner's attorneys have known for a decade that trial counsel did not catalog discovery they had received. Yet, petitioner never requested, either informally or formally, for access to the prosecution's file until he filed this motion in 2007. Against this backdrop, the appellate court properly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that petitioner's motion was untimely. (Kennedy v. Superior Court, supra, 145 Cal.App.4th at p. 366.) The motion was filed four and a half years after section 1054.9 was effective and almost three and a half years after Steele was issued. Petitioner sought the district

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